
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Thursday 23 July 2020 at 6.30 pm 
Online - Virtual Meeting 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor PJ Murphy (Chair) 
Councillor Patricia Quigley 
Councillor Fiona Smith 
Councillor Guy Vincent 
 

Councillor Donald Johnson 
 

Co-optees 

Tony Boys 
Erik Hohenstein 
Chris Littmoden 
Judith Worthy 
 

 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Kayode Adewumi 

Head of Governance and Scrutiny 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel: 0208 753 2499 
 E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
Agendas are available on the Council’s website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
The meeting will be live streamed on YouTube: https://youtu.be/fpxUgIS4lVE  
 
If you would like to register to speak at the meeting please contact the clerk. 
 
 

Date Issued: 15 July 2020 

mailto:kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees
https://youtu.be/fpxUgIS4lVE


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts 
Policy & Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

23 July 2020 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  5 - 12 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign the 
minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2020. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
  
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken. 
  
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
  
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 
  

 

4.   FINANCIAL IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE COUNCIL  13 - 26 

 This report provides a review of the council’s financial position as it 
seeks to support our residents, communities and businesses through 
the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
 
 

 



 

5.   CIVIC CAMPUS UPDATE  27 - 40 

 This report provides the Committee with an update on the Civic Campus 
Programme – the redevelopment of Hammersmith Town Hall and West 
King Street.  
 
This report has appendices containing information exempt within the 
meaning of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and are 
not for publication. 
  
Any discussions on the contents of an exempt appendix will 
require the Committee to pass the proposed resolution identified at 
the end of the agenda to exclude members of the public and the 
press from the proceedings for that discussion. 
 

 

6.   COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME   

 The Committee is asked to suggest topics for future consideration.  
 

 

7.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 The next meeting will be held on Wednesday, 16 September 2020. 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
  
Proposed resolution: 
 
Under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the following items of business, on the grounds that they contain the 
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Wednesday 29 January 2020 
 

 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors PJ Murphy (Chair), Patricia Quigley and 
Guy Vincent 
 
Co-opted members: Tony Boys (Community) and Chris Littmoden (Community) 
 
Other Councillors: Councillor Max Schmid – Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Commercial Services 
 

Officers:  Kim Smith (Chief Executive), Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director - 
Finance and Governance), Jacqui McShannon, (Director of Children’s Services), 
Emily Hill (Assistant Director - Finance), Joanne Woodward (Chief Planning Officer) 
Andrew Lord (Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring), Kellie Gooch (Head of 
Finance -  Environment), Gary Hannaway (Head of Finance - Parking) , Tony 
Burton (Head of Finance - Children’s Services), Prakash Daryanani (Head of 
Finance - Social Care), Cliff Parker (Assistant Director – Housing Finance) ,Firas 
Al-Sheikh (Head of Housing Financial Investment & Strategy), Danny Rochford 
(Head of Finance - The Economy Department), Andre Mark (Interim Finance 
Business Partner), Matt Patterson (Interim Head of Spatial Planning) and Kayode 
Adewumi (Head of Governance & Scrutiny) 

 
20. MINUTES  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2019 were approved and 
signed by the Chair. 
 

21. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted by Judith Worthy, Eric Hohenstein and 
Councillor Fiona Smith. 
 

22. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made. 
 

23. 2020 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS)  
 
Hitesh Jolapara, Strategic Director, Finance and Governance, gave a 
detailed presentation on the national context and the Council’s Budget.   

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
The 2020/21 gross General Fund budget is £525m of which the net budget 
requirement of £154.3m is funded from council resources (such as council 
tax and business rates) and general government grant. A balanced budget is 
proposed for 2020/21 with a contribution to reserves of £7.2m.   Government 
grant funding will increase by £3.6m from 2019/20 to 2020/21 as a result of 
the Government’s pre-election spending round in September 2019. This 
increase follows a decade of grant cuts with overall funding reducing by 
£68m from 2010/11 to 2020/21. This was a real terms funding cut of 54%. 
 
The Government’s proposed ‘fair funding review’ in 2020/21 is likely to be 
bad news as it is anticipated that resources will be redistributed away from 
inner city areas, which have traditionally received funding to address higher 
levels of deprivation.  Due to the continued high levels of inflation in the 
social care market and the government’s continued failure to propose a long-
term funding solution to social care funding, the Council proposes a 2% adult 
social care levy for 2020/21. 
 
An increase in the Council’s element of council tax of 1.99% is proposed for 
2020/21. This will generate extra income of £1.2m in 2020/21 and £4.9m 
over a four-year period. This will support investment in key services for 
residents and future financial resilience.  The business rates system is 
changing for a fourth successive year.  Current modelling forecasts that 
Hammersmith and Fulham will benefit by £1.9m from the 2019/20 pilot and 
this is assumed within the 2020/21 budget. As the pilot has ceased, the 
expected benefit is a one-off sum and therefore will be moved to reserves. 
The actual benefit will not be confirmed until September 2020. The instability 
in the government’s approach to business rates makes medium-term 
financial planning difficult. 
 
A national pay award has yet to be agreed for 2020/21. Provision is made 
within the budget for an increase of up to 2% (£1.7m) and this will be held 
corporately until a national agreement is reached on the annual pay award. 
Inflation of £2.6m has also been provided, on a case by case basis, to meet 
contractual requirements. 
 
The Committee welcomed the presentation and asked some questions on 
the issues highlighted below.  
 
The Chair asked what had accounted for the previous years’ reported 
underspend turning into overspends. Officers responded that resources have 
been going down, the increased complexity and demand for social care have 
all contributed to the change.  The Council is cutting spend by £10-15m 
annually. 
 
Officers were requested to ensure that reports were written with laymen 
understandable terminology with figures cross referenced.  Members were 
happy with the trend analysis in the report but asked for more ratios in the 
future. 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

It was noted that £7.2m was contributed to reserves from the business rate 
pilot pool (£1.5m) and Council tax collection fund surplus (£1.8m) as a result 
of more people paying council tax than modelled.  Parking revenue and fines 
are set in line with parking policy rather than to generate revenue.  Any 
surplus income generated must be spent on specific expenditure including 
transport infrastructure, concessionary fares and environmental improvement 
projects.  The Committee asked for further information to be provided on this 
as there is a misconception that the Council can use parking revenues on 
any council activity.  
 
Members inquired how will officers reduce the £9.449m overspend reported 
in CRM 6. If at the end of the year, the outturn is more favourable than 
reported now, should members be concerned about the Council’s budget 
and financial management.  The meeting was informed that officers were 
generally cautious at this time of the year. There will be some movement but 
children’s placement costs, and transports and care arrangements continue 
to be high pressure areas with significant demand growth and increased 
costs.  Mitigation plans are consistently reviewed.  
 
The council at any time is supporting 1,100 children in need.  Around £18m 
is spent on looked after children.  Jacqui McShannon (Director of Children’s 
Services) noted that there has been an increased demand in the number of 
children and young people in care from 239 to 264 and rising. The reasons 
for children coming into care has changed.  The complexity of needs is 
forcing children into high costs places.  Statutory responsibility changes 
extending responsibilities up to age of 25 has also put pressure on the 
budget.   
 
The council benchmarks itself against other local authorities.  Nationally, the 
number of children in care is going up. Local authorities in West London are 
seeing changing trends particularly due to increased teenage violence.   
Unfortunately, it is higher here compared to other boroughs.  The council is 
looking at early year intervention measures. 
 
The placement costs are rising because of the national pressure on 
placements with the very complex needs, changes in statutory responsibility 
and high levels of youth violence.  In response to a query whether the £8.9m 
overspend on month 7 includes the £5.7m high needs block provision, it was 
noted that the reserve forecast assumes provision for the DSG deficit.  The 
Education and Skills Funding Agency is engaging with local authorities to 
find a solution to this national problem. 
 
Members asked how much of the savings identified can be attributed to Zero 
based budgeting (ZBB) and are we obtaining value for money from team.  
Officers reported that the ZBB team is working in collaboration with finance 
and service teams to identify and deliver savings.  Councillor Schmid was of 
the view that the team was providing value for money.  There are some 
bigger ideas in the pipeline which are not yet in the budget such as the 
residents’ access programme.  The team was good at using data and 
producing evidence to challenge how we do things.  For residents, the 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

budget is good news as the council is keeping and improving levels of 
service. 
 
Councillor Quigley asked for clarification on the street lighting savings.  
Officers responded that the installation of sensors on street lighting (street 
lamps, illuminated signs and bollards) to remotely control hours and levels of 
illumination would be in line with residents’ feedback and was also in 
response to the Council’s climate change agenda.  
 
The Committee once again thanked the officers for a very good job in 
ensuring that the Council produced a balanced budget. 
 
Action 
 

 Copies of the Departmental presentations to be circulated to Members 
(Kayode Adewumi – Head of Governance) 

 Officers to provide more information on the use of parking income. 
(Gary Hannaway – Head of Parking Finance) 

 Officers to let Members know where the installation of sensors on 
street lighting has been used in other boroughs. 
(Kellie Gooch – Head of Finance – Environment) 

 Officers to circulate the High Needs Block presentation to the 
Committee. (Tony Burton - Head of Finance – Education) 

 
24. RESERVES STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN  

 
The meeting received an update on the Council’s reserves policy and 
strategy for their future use.  Officers reported that in light of the uncertainty 
around future funding from the Government, continued action is required to 
ensure that reserves remain adequate to meet the pressures facing the 
Council over the medium term and deal with future unexpected events. The 
reserves strategy acknowledges the challenges facing the Council and 
proposes streamlining all available corporate and departmental reserves to 
focus on key priorities.  An action plan is proposed to improve the medium 
term-outlook including actions to identify capital receipts to safeguard 
reserves. 
 
It was noted that the Council carried forward a general balance of £19.0m 
and earmarked reserves of £62.3m at the start of 2019/20.  This level of 
balances and reserves is slightly below average for a London Borough and 
reduced by £32.1m in 2018/19. The most significant movement in 2018/19 
was setting aside £13.6m for the historic high needs Dedicated Schools 
Grant funding deficit. Key council projects were also supported such as the 
use of £5.5m for managed services implementation and £2.0m for the Civic 
Campus scheme.  The Council has already committed to use reserves to 
fund several major initiatives and priorities. It also faces significant current 
and future financial risks (such as the current year forecast overspend, 
£9.4m at month 6 after mitigating actions) and potential costs of future 
service improvements.  Finally, the meeting noted the Council’s external 
auditors (Grant Thornton) comments on the level of the Council’s reserves 
that the reserves level is of concern as there does not appear to be sufficient 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

cushion to weather the ongoing financial challenges that the Council will face 
over the medium term due to reductions in central government funding and 
forecast pressures of the DSG funding.  The Auditors strongly recommended 
that the use of reserves remains limited in future years other than for 
specifically earmarked schemes. 
 
Given the on-going scale of change in local government funding, and risks 
facing the Council as part of the 2019/20 budget report, Hitesh Jolapara, 
Section 151 Officer, recommended that general balances should be 
maintained within the range of £14m to £20m.  The current general balance 
of £19m falls within this range which represents 3.6% (equivalent to 13 days 
spend) of the Council’s gross budget of £525m.  
 
Councillor Vincent observed that the reserves balances had decreased from 
£81.3m to £41.4m.  He inquired how can the Council rebuild the balances 
back up and what is the ideal earmarked reserve figure?  Hitesh noted that 
there are a wide range of measures possible to raise the balances such as 
asset disposals, invest to save, borrowing, tighter financial management and 
the receipt of one-off receipts from the Government amongst others.  
Councillor Schmid noted that there was no ideal earmarked reserve figure.  
The level is linked to the Council’s priorities.  The Section 151 Officer and 
politicians make a judgement call to set the level.  
 
Regarding the details of the £17.610m civic campus proposed earmarked 
reserves (unrestricted), Emily Hill, Deputy Section 151 Officer, noted that the 
figure consisted primarily of property lease payment and relocation costs.  If 
the scheme is completed within 3½ years it would require £40m but if it 
extends to 5 years it will cost up to £45m. 
 
The Committee welcomed the report and requested officers to keep the 
figures under review with regular June and January updates presented to the 
Committee. 
 
Action 
 
Regular June and January updates presented to the Committee. 
(Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Director of Finance and Governance) 
 

25. SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS - UPDATE REPORT  
 
The meeting was informed that the Council had negotiated over £600 million 
worth of developer contributions from new developments in the borough 
through planning agreements since 2014.  This includes financial as well as 
non-financial contributions received through s106 legal agreements.  The 
£600m figure excluded the cost of S278 works to the public highway as well 
as public transport improvements negotiated separately by Transport for 
London which also benefit Hammersmith and Fulham.  
 
There are currently 228 individual S106 agreements in the programme, 
containing over 1,150 heads of terms. Funds have been received for 165 of 
these agreements and projects to deliver on the obligations are also 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

underway. The remaining agreements are signed and completed although 
funds have not yet been received as the trigger points for payments have not 
been reached. Trigger points typically relate to a specific stage of 
development, such as commencement of development works on site or the 
first occupation of a residential unit and are therefore outside the Council’s 
direct control.  
 
Members noted that the available balance (cash in hand) at 1 January 2020 
was £55m.  Most of these funds are limited to certain purposes or types of 
infrastructure through individual legal agreements or certain locations within 
the Borough.  The future receipts negotiated were £124.1m.  These are 
highly dependent on wider economic factors and whether development 
comes forward or not.  Officers indicated that the expected future funds 
could be received over the next 10 to 15 years.  The future funds excluded 
the S106 funds agreed for schemes where currently there is little prospect of 
the proposed developments coming forward, such as Earl's Court, Stamford 
Bridge, and Albert & Swedish wharves.  The proposed expenditure was 
£63.5m.  
 
The Members welcomed the report and noted that officers have taken a 
massive step forward in making a very complex issues very easy to 
understand.  The report had provided a good overview of income, proposed 
expenditure and the process of allocation.  Members commended the 
thematic approach to spend and the governance proposed to ensure that 
spend was in line with the Council’s priorities.  Finally, it was generally noted 
that the Council cannot freely spend the £55m S106 cash in hand. 
 
The Chair thanked officers and the Co-opted Members for all their hard work 
on this issue.  He was confidence that the Council has a firm grip on this. 
 
Action 
 
Officers were asked to add the names of the developers against the 
schemes in future updates.  (Joanne Woodward – Chief Planning Officer) 
 

26. CIVIC CAMPUS PROGRAMME - JANUARY 2020 UPDATE  
 
The meeting expressed its disappointment that the Deloitte report on West 
King Street Renewal Financial Review of Proposed Transaction was 
classified as exempt.  It was not happy that the requested information was 
not circulated to Members on time.  If the Committee was going to undertake 
its overview role, in future it must see all reports within a reasonable time.  
 
Members expressed their concerns at the absence of any officer from The 
Economy department to answer questions and discuss this project.  The lack 
of attendance was an indication that the Council had a significant key person 
dependency on only two senior officers. 
 
During the discussions, the Committee asked why the JV contract had not 
been signed, how the risks (bar financial) identified in the Deloitte’s report 
have been mitigated, and why the signing of the contract was not included in 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

the progress chart.  A lack of information on these key issues raise red flags 
and indicated that the project was not going to be completed on-time or on-
budget completion.   The Committee thanked Hitesh and Emily for stepping 
in and noted that they were not expected to field questions outside of their 
remit.   
 
The Committee were informed that the demolition was in progress and there 
is an expectation that the JV contract will be signed within a couple of days.  
Procurement was underway and bids had been received and were being 
evaluated. In terms of finance, the Council is putting £25m equity into the 
partnership and a separate decision had been made to buy the commercial 
units. This will give us a better control of the development and raise income 
for the Council. 
 
In response to Members questions, it was noted that both parties are 
continuing at risk without contracts signed. The critical programme stages 
are the decant, demolition and construction. 
 
Members stressed that the exchange of contracts were critical success 
factors. They expressed concerns that these were not finalised.  The 
information given to members lacked the risk assessment or risk register.  
Currently, the committee does not have the necessary information to provide 
the required oversight.  The committee is expected to have a comprehensive 
programme timeline, major dependences – suppliers, contracts, financial 
plans etc, and risk analysis and mitigating factors.  Without these, the 
programme is proceeding at risk.  Members were reassured that the council 
has in house experienced officers who can manage the programme.  There 
is an internal Member and officer governance regime. Officers are supported 
by external expertise provided by Currie & Brown.   
 
The Committee agreed that it needs to keep the programme under review 
with regular updates and briefings from officers to reassure them that the 
project will be completed on time and on budget as any major slippage would 
have a major impact on the Council’s finances.  
 
Action  
 

 Officers to organise briefing meeting with the committee members to 
ensure they are fully briefed and up to speed on what is happening. 
(Dave Burns - David Burns Assistant Director - Growth) 

 The January 2020 Civic campus Full Council report be circulated to 
Members as background information. (Kayode Adewumi – Head of 
Governance) 

 
 

27. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The work programme was noted. 
 

28. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Wednesday 1st April 2020 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.48 pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Kayode Adewumi 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07899661869 
 E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 12



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:   Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy & 

Accountability Committee 
 
Date:   23/07/2020 
 
Subject:  Financial Impact of Covid-19 on the Council 
 
Report of:  Emily Hill – Director of Finance  
 
Responsible Director: Emily Hill – Director of Finance 
 
 
Summary 
 
This report provides a review of the council’s financial position as it seeks to support 
our residents, communities and businesses through the Covid-19 pandemic. This 
international health pandemic has resulted in significant financial pressures for the 
council. The council’s emergency response has resulted in additional expenditure 
whilst income has been lost  due to  the lockdown and impact of the pandemic on the 
economy.  
 
There has been a lack of clarity, and resulting uncertainty, around government 
funding for the local authority sector as it responds to the pandemic . Councils were 
initially told by the government that it would provide them with whatever funding was 
needed. However, more recent communications have instead said councils would be 
expected to share the financial impact of the pandemic, including through the use of 
reserves. Prior to the latest government funding announcement of the 2 July, an 
adverse impact of at least £27m was forecast. Under the latest announcement this 
impact will be reduced, however full details of the expected funded are yet to be 
made available to councils. The forecast is based on our best estimate of costs and 
revenue losses offset by confirmed grant allocations. The forecast can only be 
provided at a point in time in a constantly changing and unpredictable environment. 
The forecast continue to change and be updated as the pandemic, and government 
and the council’s response to it, evolves. 
 
If the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is not fully funded by government, it will pose 
a significant risk to the council’s future financial resilience as these costs will fall to 
the council and need to be met from either reduction of spending in other areas and 
budgets or reserves. Any funding from reserves could provide only a short-term 
solution and the council would need to put plans in place to replenish these to 
ensure future financial resilience. An update is provided on reserves and how the 
council is taking forward financial recovery.  
 
Recommendations 
 
1. Note and comment on the contents of the report and on the financial impact on 

the council. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



Wards Affected: All 
 
H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Building shared prosperity Some of the government grant funding 
includes reliefs and grants to local 
businesses which have been administered 
by the Council. 

 Creating a compassionate 
council 

The Covid-19 pandemic hits our most 
vulnerable resident’s the hardest. The 
Council’s response and the costs incurred in 
responding to the pandemic has been 
incurred in ensuring that our residents, 
especially our most vulnerable residents are 
safe and have access to essential food and 
services during the pandemic.  

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

The Covid-19 response has harnessed the 
power, skills and generosity of our residents 
in establishing and supporting our volunteer 
Community Action Network which also helps 
to reduce council costs.  

 Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a 
significant financial impact on the council 
has incurred additional costs as a result and 
has sought to manage these and ensure 
value for money wherever possible. These 
costs and lost revenues will be funded by 
government grant as far as possible. 

 Taking pride in H&F The Covid-19 response has included 
expenditure on social distancing measures 
in important public spaces.  

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name:  Andrew Lord 
Position: Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring 
Telephone: 020 8753 2531 
Email:  andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None. 
 

 
1. Context and background 

 
1.1. This report sets out the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the 

council.  

Page 14



 
 

 
2. Government support to date 

 
2.1. There has been considerable uncertainty around government funding of the 

council’s response to the pandemic and other financial pressures being 
experienced as a result of the lockdown and the economic downturn.  

 
2.2. Since the crisis began, the government has provided some grant funding to 

fund the council’s local response and financial pressures and also to administer 
government designed schemes. The current confirmed grant allocations for 
Hammersmith & Fulham are summarised in Table 1, and government support 
to local business administered by the council is set out in Table 2 both are 
detailed in Appendix 1. 

 
Table 1 – Hammersmith & Fulham government grant allocations 
 

 £m 

General – un-ringfenced grants 11.535 

Service and specific grants 5.311 

 
2.3. Government grant allocations are split between: 

 general grant allocations to help deal with the immediate impacts of Covid-
19. The funding is un-ringfenced and available to help meet any financial 
pressures experienced by the council (including income loss). The 
government expectation is that most of the grant will be used to support 
adult social care and supporting vulnerable residents. The council has 
received 2 tranches of this funding (emergency Covid-19 grant) that total 
£11.535m. A further additional tranche was announced on 2 July, however 
allocations have not yet been announced.   

 grants that are ringfenced or intended for specific purposes such as test and 
trace grant. 

 funding that is shared with other partners. For example, £1.5 billion 
nationally has been allocated to the NHS for additional spending on 
enhanced hospital discharge arrangements. The council is in discussion with 
the local CCG on accessing some of this funding through monthly claims. 
 

Table 2 – Government support for business administered by the council 
 

 £m 

Business rates relief – compensation for lost rates 116.967 

Business grants for local businesses 51.677 

 
2.4. The most significant of funding streams which have passed through 

Hammersmith & Fulham are administered by the Council with the benefits 
passed to local businesses with limited local discretion. These relate to 
payments to provide support to local business broadly split between: 

Page 15



 rate relief schemes that reduce the business rates income receivable by the 
council. The council is compensated for this loss. The current allocation is 
£116.9m. 

 reimbursement to the council for extra payments made to small businesses 
and retail, leisure and hospitality businesses. The latest estimate is £51.7m, 
£2.4m relating to discretionary business grants. 

 
2.5. There are several grants, set out in Appendix 1, for which the allocation has yet 

to be confirmed. In particular the government announced further measures to 
support local government on 2 July. The detail of this announcement is awaited 
but the headlines are: 

 additional £500m un-ringfenced funding to support local authorities. The 
estimated Hammersmith & Fulham share is likely to be between £1m and 
£2m. 

 grant to partially compensate for lower income from fees and charges. 
Hammersmith & Fulham will have to fund 5% of overall income loss with the 
government providing grant to fund 75% of any additional loss. It is not 
confirmed what income (such as Parking) will be covered by this grant of for 
what period or the claim methodology.  

 collection fund (council tax and business rate) losses to be spread over three 
years – with the sharing of potential losses to be considered in the next 
Spending Review.  

 
2.6. Account will be taken of all funding as, and when, the allocations are 

announced and when details of what can be claimed are available. 
 
3. Spending pressures and income loss 
 

3.1. Rigorous and precise forecasting regarding the impact of Covid-19 is not 
possible. New issues and challenges are arising at pace with several key 
variables unknown including, for example: 

 the length and depth of an expected economic downturn 

 the duration of the lockdown, the potential for a local lockdown, and what the 
new ‘normal’ will look like 

 the extent of pent-up demand for services 

 future threats such as a ‘second-wave’ 

 changes to future work, leisure and travel patterns. 
 

3.2. The latest high-level modelling by the council is summarised in Table 2. This 
estimate is based on a monthly Covid-19 data return that the council submits to 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MCHLG). The 
main assumption that underpins the return is that the lockdown is in place for 
four months. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Table 2 – Financial impact of Covid-19 on Hammersmith and Fulham (June 
MCHLG Return) 

 

 £m 

Expenditure 14.430 

Income loss (fees and charges and commercial) 16.218 

Income loss (council tax and business rates) 7.900 

Total expenditure and income loss 38.548 

Un-ringfenced emergency Covid-19 grant (11.535) 

Additional un-ringfenced grant and partial compensation for 
income loss (July 2 MCHLG announcement) 

TBC 

Grant shortfall 27.013 

Housing Revenue Account element of shortfall 2.369 

 
3.3. The forecast additional expenditure and income loss is detailed in Appendix 2. 

Some key areas of additional Covid-19 related expenditure include: 

 £3m on personal protective equipment 

 £2m of additional expenditure to support adult social care market/ 
providers 

 £2m on supporting rough sleepers and homelessness 

 £1.6m of costs associated with additional social care demand and hospital 
discharge arrangements 

 £0.9m on cycle lanes/ social distancing 

 £0.8m on increasing mortuary capacity 

 £0.6m on supporting social distancing in parks and open spaces. 
 

3.4. Principle areas where Covid-19 has affected council revenues include: 

 £11.8m parking income loss 

 £3m reduction in other fees and charges income 

 £1.2m Housing Revenue Account rental/ income loss. 
 

3.5. A net shortfall in grant of £27.013m is currently forecast. The forecast 
assumes no cross subsidy from the specific and ringfenced grants. This will 
continue to be reviewed and where possible costs will be matched to other 
grant funding streams. The government announced further measures to 
support local government on 2 July including: 

 £500m un-ringfenced funding to support local authorities. The 
Hammersmith & Fulham allocation has yet to be confirmed but may be 
between £1m and £2m. 

 Compensation for 75% income loss (above a 5% threshold) from fees and 
charges. This grant could be significant if it includes parking income but 
details of how this grant is calculated are not clear – based on a very high-
level calculation based on the announced scheme this could be in the 
region of £8m. 

The grant forecast will be updated when these sums are confirmed. 
 

3.6. The estimated £7.9m loss regarding council tax and business rates shows the 
potential impact on the council’s budget. The actual cash loss will be 
significantly higher but part of this will fall to be met by the Greater London 

Page 17



Authority and government (particularly in providing a safety net that caps the 
business rates loss to the council). The government have announced that this 
loss can be spread over 3 years from 2021/22 onwards and account (not 
necessarily funding) will be considered in the Spending Review and be taken 
within future local government finance settlements. 

 
4. Other financial impacts 
 

4.1. Given the current uncertainty and flux in the economy, the government have 
abandoned plans to undertake a comprehensive spending review and a ‘fair 
funding’ review in 2020/21. Prior to the pandemic, the expectation was that fair 
funding review may have a significant reduction in government funding for 
Hammersmith & Fulham.  
 

4.2. A one-year local government finance settlement will be issued for 2021/22 with, 
as yet, no commitment by government as to what funding will be made 
available and no clarity over timescales. There is ambiguity over the 
government’s funding plans in both the short and long-term as other expected 
local government funding reforms have also been delayed, including business 
rates reform and social care funding. 

 
4.3. This uncertainty is compounded by concern that Covid-19 will potentially result 

in a deep, and prolonged, recession. This will affect a range of council budgets 
such as, fees/charges and rental budgets, a need to support key suppliers and 
an increased demand for services to vulnerable adults and children. Taken all 
together, budget planning for 2021/22 is taking place against an extremely 
uncertain national economic and policy background. 

 
4.4. Officers continue to review the council’s capital programme. Assumptions on 

viability of schemes, borrowing costs, future receipts and availability of grant 
funding, such as TfL grants, and other contributions such as developer 
contributions, all need to be tested. 
 

5. Financial resilience and recovery 
 

5.1. As with all local authorities, Covid-19 is having a significant effect on the 
council’s finances. The modelling set out in this report forecasts an adverse 
impact of £27m, although we expect this to reduce in light of the 2 July funding 
announcements. Whilst this forecast is subject to change, it presents a clear 
risk to the council’s future financial resilience. Unless significant additional 
government grant is made available, the funding shortfall will either need to be 
met through reductions in existing budgets and/or the use of one-off reserves. 
 

5.2. After a decade of grant cuts, with overall grant funding reducing by £68m from 
2010/11 to 2020/21 the council’s reserves are already under pressure. Budget 
Council agreed a reserves strategy and action plan that forecast that 
Hammersmith & Fulham would have uncommitted reserves and balances of 
£41.4m by the close of 2023/24.   

 

Page 18



5.3. The current reserves forecast means that there is limited scope to fund the 
shortfall in Covid-19 funding whilst meeting current commitments, ensuring that 
the council maintains an adequate future working balance and providing 
sufficient funding for future transformation programmes. 

 
5.4. The reserves forecast will be refreshed following the provisional closure of the 

2019/20 Accounts and expected contributions to reserves in the 2020/21 
budget. This will include an update of the reserves strategy and action plan. 
 

5.5. In order to minimise the potential call on reserves an in-year recovery 
programme is in place that incorporates remove-restore-reinvent-retain 
principles, focuses on critical services and Covid-19 transition and recovery. 
Early implementation of potential 2021/22 savings will be proposed as partial 
mitigation against the 2020/21 position and other mitigations and proposals 
actions are being considered for presentation to Cabinet in the autumn. 
 

5.6. The potential impact of Covid-19 has been modelled within the council’s 
medium-term financial forecast. This includes a number of assumptions in a 
period of significant uncertainty and therefore potential scenarios result in a 
very wide range of outcomes. The recovery programme, to balance the future 
budget, will integrate service reviews and departmental income and savings 
opportunities alongside council-wide/ cross-cutting programmes. 

 
List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Covid-19 grant funding 
 
Appendix 2 – forecast expenditure and income loss from Covid-19 
  

Page 19



Appendix 1 – Covid-19 government grant funding 
 
Government funding to Hammersmith and Fulham 
 

Funding allocation £m Comments 

Covid-19 Tranche 1 & 2 11.535 Un-ringfenced 

Infection Control 0.688 Ring-fenced: 75% to be passed directly 
to Hammersmith & Fulham based care 
homes; 25% at LA discretion* 

Test and Trace 2.020 Ringfenced: for expenditure for the 
mitigation against and management of 
local outbreaks 

Reopening High Streets Safely 0.167 Reimbursement of eligible expenditure 
incurred from 1 June – awaiting funding 
agreement* 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
Rough Sleeping 

0.002 £1,650 total grant to provide 
accommodation and support – applied 
to spend 

Emergency active travel fund 0.100 £8,818 revenue, £91,182 capital 

New burdens: business rates/ 
grants administration 

0.170 To cover costs of administering 
business rate reliefs/ grants 

Hardship Fund 1.947 Council tax relief and other local support 

Local welfare assistance 0.217 To support communities who have been 
affected by coronavirus and struggle to 
afford essentials 

Covid-19 Tranche 3 TBC Un-ringfenced – £500m announced 2 
July 

Covid-19 income TBC Detail to be confirmed – announced 2 
July  

Rough sleepers TBC £105m to keep rough sleepers safe and 
off the streets during coronavirus 
pandemic – allocation/ bid process to be 
confirmed 

New burdens: Hardship Fund TBC Funding for costs of administering 
hardship fund 

New burdens: Discretionary 
grants 

TBC Funding for costs of administering 
discretionary grants 

Total 16.846  

 

Government funding to businesses administered by the Council 
 
 

Page 20



Funding allocation £m Comments 

Business rate relief 116.967 Council compensated for loss of business 
rate income as a result of reliefs 

Business grants* 49.208 Initial allocation for  Small Business Grants 
or Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Grants – 
funding to be provided on an outturn basis 

Discretionary business 
grants 

2.404 Additional fund for small/ micro businesses 
not eligible for the above and at the 
discretion of the LA 

BID funding 0.065 Passed directly to BIDs for running costs. 

Total 170.591  

  

Page 21



Appendix 2 – forecast Covid-19 expenditure and income loss 
 
Covid-19 expenditure 
 

Service Details  £m 

Social care - extra 
demand 

Supporting Covid-19 positive residents in their 
own homes, shielding and self-isolating 

1.305 

Sheltered schemes deep cleans 0.034 

Social care - 
supporting the 
market 

Additional funding to support the financial 
resilience and costs being faced by providers (for 
3-month lockdown) 

2.031 

Social care - 
workforce pressures 

Reablement cost of staff deployed to hospital 
discharge 

0.294 

Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE) 

PPE equipment for use by care providers and key 
workers 

2.005 

Social care total   5.669 

Children’s social 
care - residential  

Hold on placement moves 
0.223 

Children’s social 
care - foster care 

Increased costs to support foster placements 
0.004 

Children's social 
care - care leavers 

Additional cost for the six young people in 
supported independent living 

0.029 

Other Virtual school laptop purchase 0.026 

Children’s social 
care total 

 
0.282 

Education – Special 
Educational Needs 
(SEND) 

High Needs Block - delays in delivering savings 
programme 

0.100 

Disabled Children’s Team (DCT) placements 0.061 

DCT delayed placement moves 0.018 

Conversion and operational costs for the Haven 0.084 

Additional transport, minibus, activities and 
equipment 

0.036 

Additional Stephen Wiltshire services in lieu of 
school opening and PPE distribution 

0.042 

Other additional costs - gloves, Medicare etc 0.004 

Play association scheme in lieu of education 0.042 

Petty cash/ claims 0.001 

Other 0.130 

Other School deep cleaning 0.269 

Free school meal vouchers pending Edenred 
scheme 

0.080 

Project management of integrated education 
response and recovery plan 

0.065 

Marketing and communication support for schools 
and parents 

0.050 

Miscellaneous 0.009 

Page 22



Service Details  £m 

Education total  0.990 

Highways and 
transport 

Unbudgeted cycle lane works to aid social 
distancing. TfL funding request submitted but not 
confirmed. 

0.939 

Highways & 
transport total 

 
0.939 

Homelessness 
services 

Additional costs 
0.825 

Housing - rough 
sleeping 

Additional costs to house rough sleepers 
1.233 

Non-HRA housing 
total  

 
2.058 

Culture & related - 
sports, leisure & 
community 

Enforcing social distancing in parks and open 
spaces 0.634 

Culture & related 
total 

 
0.634 

Environment & 
regulatory - 
cremation, cemetery 
& mortuary services 

Shared London resilience mortuary and coronial 
arrangement costs 

0.828 

Other Food safety, trading standards, noise and 
nuisance agency costs for enforcement of social 
distancing, shops closure and noise reduction 

0.015 

Environment & 
regulatory total 

 
0.843 

Planning & 
development 

Security costs at the North End Road market 
0.014 

Finance & corporate 
- digital services 

Remote working requirements and other 
developments 

0.100 

Finance & corporate 
- revenues and 
benefits  

Overtime and agency to deal with increased 
contacts, additional work 0.221 

Other Communications, Covid-19 director and 
Community Aid Network staff costs 

0.303 

Finance & 
corporate total 

 
0.638 

PPE Non-social care/ HRA use of PPE 0.813 

Unachieved savings Delays in agreed savings plans: 

 children's services - staff restructure  

 semi-independent living moves postponed 

 revenues, benefits and customer contact 
reorganisations 

 waste contract savings 

0.575 

General Fund total  13.441 

HRA workforce Delay to development / capital works of 3 months, 0.768 

Page 23



Service Details  £m 

until July leading to non-capitalisable salaries 

HRA supplies and 
materials 

Cleaning and PPE and other costs 
0.220 

HRA total  0.988 

Total   14.430 

 
 
  

Page 24



Covid-19 income losses (non-collection fund) 
 

Service Details £m 

Highways and 
transport sales, fees 
& charges parking  
(SFC) losses 

Modelled loss compared to prior year based on 
and sensitive to lockdown and recovery 
assumptions 

11.825 

Highways and 
Transport SFC 
total 

 
11.825 

Cultural & related 
SFC - recreation 
and sport losses 

Deferment of sports booking contractual income. 0.140 

Deferment of leisure centre contractual income 
during period of closure during lockdown 

0.099 

Cultural & related 
SFC - other 

Loss of income due to lockdown closures 
including: Libraries, registrars, events, filming 

0.471 

Cultural & Related 
SFC total  

0.611 

Planning & 
development SFC 
loss 

Planning fees 
0.350 

Planning & 
development SFC 
total 

 
0.350 

Other SFC losses Regulatory Services - pest control, gas safety 
checks, private sector housing licencing, other 
licencing 

0.108 

Commercial waste - net loss of income (net of 
costs avoided) 

0.228 

Street enforcement 0.000 

Temporary traffic orders 0.018 

Care Act easement 0.280 

Adult education fees 0.267 

Lilla Husset professional development centre 0.100 

Land charges 0.292 

Other SFC total 
 

1.293 

Commercial income 
losses 

Digital advertising, property rentals and markets 
(net of assumed future income recovery from 
deferred payments). 

0.758 

General fund total 
 

14.837 

HRA – residential 
rent arrears 

 
0.642 

HRA – commercial 
rent arrears 

 
0.242 

HRA – voids Irrecoverable income loss from voids 0.497 

HRA total  
 

1.381 

Total income loss 
 

16.218 

Page 25



 
Covid-19 collection fund (council tax and business rates) income losses 
 

Income stream Details £m 

Council tax 
Allowance for lower collection rate and higher 
cost of the local council tax support scheme 

6.000 

Business rates After allowance for the business rates safety net.  1.900 

Collection Fund 
total 

 
7.900 

 
Collection fund loss will impact in 2021/22 due to the statutory account arrangements 
for the collection fund. 2 July announcement that these losses will be spread across 
three years.  

Page 26



  

  

 

 
 

CIVIC CAMPUS PROGRAMME 

 

July 2020 Update 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



1 Programme Update 
 
 

Management summary RAG status 

Summary Programme 
Status 

Milestones Budget Risks 

This reporting 
period 

GREEN GREEN GREEN AMBER 

Last reporting 
period 

GREEN GREEN GREEN AMBER 

 
The programme is developing as planned. Programme is on track. Budget is 
currently forecasting an underspend and status remains as per previous report. 
 
The overall programme is made up of 3 distinct Phases: 
 
Phase 1 – Office Decant – the office decant is now completed.  
 
Phase 2 – Demolition and Enabling works 
 
Controlled demolition of the Town Hall Extension commenced in June 2020 and will 
take 4-5 months to complete (end of October 2020). This is a later start than the 
original programme due to delays from Covid-19 and will take longer than originally 
forecast due to a reduced labour force as a result of required social distancing. 
However, this will not impact main works programme as the demolition contractor 
has been able to re-programme elements of the work, and the proposed main 
contractor Ardmore has integrated the demolition programme into their overall 
programme without the need for a delay. 
 
The surface car park to the Southern end of Nigel Playfair Avenue was handed over 
in January using a similar process, so that strip out to the Old Registrar’s Building 
could commence and demolition will commence shortly.  
 
An asbestos survey has been completed in the Town Hall with enabling works 
including opening up and strip commenced in July 2020.  
 
For a short period, the 2 No CCTV control rooms will be operational in the Town Hall 
building, whilst strip out works are taking place. Risks to the Council associated with 
this are being controlled via the Programme Delivery Group (PDG) and Corporate 
Health & Safety Team and made visible to Executive Board. A specific working 
group involving LBHF CCTV, IT, FM, Risk and H&S, has been established and is 
working closely with the contractor to review proposed works and mitigate risks. 
 
All planned demolition work will be completed in a phased process to enable the 
main works contractor to take over the site in September. Some early works are 
likely to be instructed in August. 
 

Risks: 
• The demolition works were delayed due to the pandemic, but the works have now 

begun and the main contractor is integrating these into the main programme. 

Page 28



However, there is the risk for further delay if government were to impose 
restrictions on construction due to the ongoing pandemic 

• Delay in relocating the 2 No CCTV control rooms impacts on the main 
contractor’s ability to commence full construction. Active discussions are taking 
place to put in place a plan to mitigate this risk, and relocate the CCTV control 
room to a permanent location in the required timescales 

 
Phase 3 – Main works – This sets out the design development, procurement of the 
main contract and construction delivery on site. 
 
In February 2019, Full Council approved the entry into the Joint Venture (JV), and 
the associated agreements. This includes development management arrangements, 
and the procurement of the main contractor. 
 
As previously advised to PAC, the delivery structure for the project includes a 50:50 
Joint Venture (JV) between A2Dominion and the LBHF, which will enter into a 
construction contract for the wider campus improvements and delivery of the Town 
Hall vertical extension. The Council will also enter into a separate construction 
contract for the refurbishment and fit out of the Town Hall. 
 
Both contracts have been tendered together as one package to ensure consistency 
and efficiency across the site is maximised and enable effective site logistics 
required to meet the required programme – while the separate contract ensures the 
Council retains more control over the delivery of the Town Hall refurbishment as part 
of the programme. Following a procurement exercise, a preferred contractor, 
Ardmore, was selected and a Pre-Construction Services Agreement (PCSA) was 
approved in May 2020 to provide pre-construction services to progress design, cost 
and delivery aspects of the project. 
 
This PCSA period is progressing in tandem with the RIBA Stage 4 (Technical 
Design) which involves a series of workshops with council officers and key 
stakeholders to inform the design. Following the completion of the PCSA 
deliverables, the Council will have a detailed design, cost certainty, and a fixed 
timeframe for delivery. Cost certainty will be fixed in July 2020 and will form the basis 
of a proposed fixed price contract with the Contractor. 
 
The July 6th Cabinet delegated approval to enter into the main construction contract 
with Ardmore Construction for the refurbishment and fit out works to the Town Hall, 
subject to agreement of final price within Budget.  
 

Key Milestones are set out below: 

 29th Feb 20 – Main Contractor Tender evaluation completed 

 4th Mar 20 – JV Formed and Incorporated 

 31st Mar 20 – Land Sale Agreement and Conditional Agreement for Lease 

 21st May 20 – Main Contractor Appointed for Pre-Construction services 

(PCSA) 

 15th July – Town Hall Enabling works (asbestos strip and structural opening 

Page 29



works begin in the town hall 

 30th July 20 – RIBA Stage 4 Design Sign Off 

 August – Main Contractor Contract signature 

 August – Main Works Start On Site 

 August – Decant of Network Comms Hub 

 August – Quakers (Bradmore Park) completion 

 October 20 – Demolition completion 

 April 22 – Town Hall completion 

 June 23 – All works completion 

Key items on the critical path in the next period are: 

 Completion of foul sewer survey – 11th August 

 Completion of replacement Quaker’s Meeting House -14th August 

 Completion of a stopping up order for Nigel Playfair Avenue – 28th September 

2 Commercial 
 

The Joint Venture (JV) was incorporated on the 4th March 2020.  
 
The Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) Agreement was signed on the 31st March 
2020 and associated Members Loan agreements, Services Agreement, Novation 
Agreement and Supplemental Demolition License. The Conditional Agreement for 
Lease (CAL) was signed on the 31st March 2020. 
 
The original target date to sign the agreements was by end of 2019. However, 
negotiations took longer than anticipated to ensure the contractual documentation 
was as strong as possible, and to allow for the completion of the cabinet and council 
decisions in December 2019 and January 2020. The later signing date did not affect 
the programme.  
 
Recent Decisions  
 
Cabinet Member for the Economy made a decision on the 17th May 2020 to provide 
Authority to Enter into a Pre-Construction Services Agreement (PCSA) with a 
contractor to progress the Town Hall Refurbishment and Fit-Out Contract. 

3 Impact of Covid-19 
 
As identified above, Covid has caused some brief delays to activity but hasn’t 
affected the overall programme delivery dates. The project team continue to monitor 
both the direct construction impacts and the financial viability impacts on the project, 
and the LLP board also reviews this as part of its obligations. 
 
The detailed design of the Civic Campus has moved into RIBA stage 4 and into 
interior design phases, and the council has taken the opportunity to review in light of 
potential working arrangement changes that may become permanent i.e. increased 
working from home – this work is ongoing and will conclude early August. 

Page 30



 
This also flows into the Council’s overall accommodation strategy, and the Council is 
looking at its ongoing office estate needs in the short and medium term. 

4  Budget Update. 

 
In January 2019, Full Council approved the following recommendations for the Civic 
Campus programme:  
 

1) Decant Budget of £36,734,027 (made up of an additional budget of £27.3m 

and existing budgets from previous reports, as noted in paragraph 9.22 of the 

Full Council report). Final confirmation of funding was delegated to the Chief 

Executive, as advised by the Strategic Director, Finance and Governance, in 

consultation with the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Member for the 

Economy and the Arts and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial 

Services, and; 

 

2) A capital budget of up to £45.6m for the refurbishment and fit out of the Town 

Hall building. Final confirmation of this funding has been delegated to the 

Strategic Director, Finance and Governance in consultation with the Leader of 

the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services.  

The decant is now complete and we are finalising accounts with the contractors. The 
current budget is currently forecasting an underspend.  
 
A summary analysis of current financial performance is set out in Appendix 2.  

         
It should be noted that the July Cabinet report approved: 

 Approval of a project budget realignment in line with the Council’s strategy to 

protect reserves; this would provide a £860,841 further underspend against 

the revenue allocation and requires a corresponding, £860,841 additional 

capital budget for the fit out of the Town Hall (including the extension) and 

 That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director for the Economy, in 

consultation with the Director of Finance, the Cabinet Member for the 

Economy and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services, to 

agree an additional 5% variation of the approved capital budget to 

accommodate any potential increase in contract costs or approved 

specification changes following approval of this report, to be funded from 

borrowing. 

5 Governance and Programme Management 
 
The progress of the project is monitored and scrutinised by a number of formal 
Boards.  
 
The programme reports to: 
 

Page 31



1) Executive Board - chaired by the CEO, the Board sits monthly to review 

progress, budget control and design development; key risks; and LBHF client 

side and contractual decisions to satisfy conditions precedents. The board in 

its current form has met 10 times since October 2019 (there was a previous 

programme board before that, which has met since the start of the project). 

2) Programme Delivery Group - chaired by senior LBHF officers, the group is the 

main programme management forum, which reviews and scrutinises project 

progress, project controls and delivery milestones; and identifies blockages 

for resolution. This meets every month and has done since October 2019 

(previously it was the decant programme group). 

The project is overseen by the Members Oversight Board, which is made up of the 
Cabinet Member for the Economy, Cabinet Member for Finance and the Deputy 
Leader. The member’s board meets on a 6-weekly basis and has met 6 times. 
 
In addition to this the Council has employed its own Contract Administrator (Currie & 
Brown) who has a responsibility to monitor progress, the administration of each 
contract with particular focus on the Town hall refurbishment and validate and 
challenge cost and expenditure across the programme. The Council has also 
retained BNP Paribas who will advise the Council on land valuation. 
 
Management Arrangements 
 
Officer leadership is provided by Tony Clements, Interim Strategic Director for the 
Economy who acts as the Project Sponsor on SLT, and David Burns, Assistant 
Director Growth who is the Project Director. There is then a team of offices who lead 
different aspects of the programme, that reports into the  
 
Tony Clements and Emily Hill are the Council’s representatives on the LLP. 
 
In the finance team, Emily Hill provides lead finance oversight and control, supported 
by the Council’s Chief Accountant and the Head of Capital Investment (Economy). 
 
Internal resilience on programme management and delivery is provided through: 

 Transparent Information – team operates on the basis of everyone knows 

everything so knowledge is not concentrated in one place 

 Robust programme management – dedicated PMO for the Civic Campus 

 Cross council collaboration – Programme delivery group includes key 

representatives from across the council (e.g. finance, legal, risk management) 

 External technical advice – the right expert advice when needed 

 

Page 32



Appendix 1 
 
Overall Programme Summary 
 

  

P
age 33



Appendix 2  - Budget Summary 

Budget 

Item 

Approved 

Budget 

Spend to date Expected 

Spend to date 

Variance 

Against 

Spend to 

Date 

Total Forecast Variance 

Against Total 

Budget 

Notes 

Revenue  £          

36,734,027.00  

 £             

12,798,023.00  

 £                 

12,798,023.00  

 £                                                      

-    

 £       

32,267,871.00  

 £                

(4,466,156.00) 

Budget is tracking at an overall underspend of £4.46m, 

which is attributed to capitalisation of furniture as well 

as additional budget savings throughout the 

programme 

LBHF 

Capital 

 £              

46,460,841.00  

 £               

5,361,376.00  

 £                   

7,201,977.49  

 £                                 

1,840,601.49  

 £       

46,460,841.00  

 £                                        

-    

Underspend from baseline position is a result of a 

delay in demolition works and some reprogramming. 

The programme is forecast to retain its position by the 

end of 2020. 

 

 P
age 34



 

Page 35



West King Street/Town Hall Programme Level Risks 1 2 3 4 5 .1 Rare .1 Negligible
Calculate Profile Score after control measures applied. 2 4 6 8 10 .2 Unlikely .2 Minor

RISK REGISTER 3 6 9 12 15 .3 Possible .3 Moderate
4 8 12 16 20 .4 Likely .4 Major ACTIVE
5 10 15 20 25 .5 Almost certain .5 Catastrophic CLOSED

REMOVED

REF
DATE 

RAISED
RAISED BY

RISK 
CATEGORY

RISK DESCRIPTION AND CONSEQUENCE PROBABILITY IMPACT
PROFILE 
(SCORE)

CURRENT ACTION
ASSIGNED 

TO
DATE 

COMPLETED 
STATUS

P12 08.11.18 S. Ibrahim Programme There is a risk of unforeseen changes to the scope 
during the lifecycle of the programme. This may result in 
a negative impact to the programme timelines and costs.

2 4 8 Programme/project 
documentation in place and under 
constant review.

A. Starkie ACTIVE

P19 14.01.19 S. Ibrahim Legal There is a risk that A2Dominion or its development 
subsidiary goes into administration. This would result in 
the programme being delayed as a new development 
partner is sought. 

1 4 5 Parent compay guarantee agreed 
within the JV agreement. Deloitte 
report on A2D strength concluded 
they were acceptable partners.

W. Stokes ACTIVE

P21 14.01.19 S. Ibrahim Programme 
Quality

There is a risk that macroeconomic forces (e.g. Brexit) 
have a detrimental effect on the supply chain, 
construction workforce, interest rates, borrowing and 
inflation, CIL income or rate of sales, thereby affecting 
scheme viability. This may delay the programme and 
cause additional unforeseen costs to the programme.

3 4 12 Continued monitoring required. A. Starkie ACTIVE

P22 14.01.19 S. Ibrahim Programme 
Quality

There is a risk that throughout the timing of the 
programme, the residential market begins to or 
completely deteriorate leading to lower sales values. As 
a result this would affecting scheme viability.

3 3 9 On-going responding to changes 
in revenue forecasts, construction 
costs and residual land value. 

A.Starkie/W. 
Stokes 

ACTIVE

P24 14.01.19 S. Ibrahim Financial There is a risk that the new Town Hall scheme is not 
delivered by the JV, leading to increased costs for the 
Council.

1 4 4 Construction of the 'glass box' is 
going to be carried out by the JV - 
reflected in CAL and JV 
agreements. The Council will 
continue to be responsible for the 
TH refurbishment as a separate 
contract.

W. Stokes ACTIVE

P25 14.01.19 S. Ibrahim Financial There is a risk that the new 'glass box' part of the Town
Hall scheme and/or construction costs increase, (for
example due to heritage constraints) thereby affecting
scheme viability which would have a financial impact.

3 3 9 W. 
Stokes/LBHF 
Finance

ACTIVE

Under the proposed JV arrangements, the 
Council can better control delivery of the 
scheme.  The CAL containst protections 
for the council in the event of delay or 
failure.

The Council's cost consultant has 
reviewed the cost estimates provided by 
A2Dominion's cost consultant, Silver.  The 
Counicl and the JV will seek to let fixed 
price construction contracts to aid cost 
certainty.  For heritage related matters, 
the Council is able to rely on the 
consultants appointed by the JV.  In 
addition, Currie and Brown are also 
advising the Council in this matter.

The Council has commissioned a review 
of A2Dominion Group's financial strength, 
including A2Dominion Developments.  A 
Parent Company Gurarantor will also be 
sought for A2Dominion's and A2 
Dominion Developments share of 
obligations under the JV agreement.

The Council and its partners will continue 
to monitor the implications of 
macroeconomic changes (including 
Brexit) making any reasonable 
adjustments to the programme delivery 
strategy and reviewing scheme viability 
prior to go live.

Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken 
as part of the business case development 
and both parties will continue to monitor 
viability.

CONTROL MEASURES

Ensure that the projects are properly 
defined, documented, baselined and 
controlled following clear change control 
processes.

P
age 36



P36 18.01.19 S. Ibrahim Financial The Town Hall refurbishment and fit-out, is the 
responsibility of the Council, therefore there is a risk that 
any cost overruns and increased costs will need to be 
met by the Council. There are uncertainties with regards 
to the timing and costing of these features as they are 
finalised. 

2 4 8 Currently finalising specification 
for Town Hall refurbishment and 
fit out based on previously 
approved budgets.

B. Maltby ACTIVE

D07 23.07.18 D. 
Tremellen

Programme If the contractual Vacant Possession Date for the Town 
Hall and Town Hall Extension cannot be met, there is a 
risk of incurring additional cost plus delay to the delivery 
of the refurbished Town Hall. 

2 3 6 Continuing to review master 
programme to ensure we are on 
track for vacant possession.

A. Starkie/B. 
Maltby

ACTIVEArrange a mutually achievable vacant 
possession date with A2D and Silver 
before the contract is completed. Monitor 
Decant programme delivery and ensure 
milestones are met.

To mitigate this uncertainty, there will be a 
consistent review of the build out scope of 
the Town Hall as well as working closely 
with the construction manager at key 
milestone points throughout the 
programme. 

P
age 37



1 2 3 4 5 .1 Rare .1 Negligible

2 4 6 8 10 .2 Unlikely .2 Minor
3 6 9 12 15 .3 Possible .3 Moderate
4 8 12 16 20 .4 Likely .4 Major ACTIVE

Calculate Profile Score after control measures applied. 5 10 15 20 25 .5 Almost certain .5 Catastrophic CLOSED
REMOVED

REF DATE RAISED
RAISED 

BY
RISK CATEGORY RISK DESCRIPTION AND CONSEQUENCE PROBABILITY IMPACT

PROFILE 
(SCORE)

CURRENT ACTION
ASSIGNED 

TO
DATE 

COMPLETED
STATUS

B10 18/12/2018 B.Maltby Financial There is a risk that additional unforseen budget items may 
arise throughout the programme or the spec/scope 
creeps; resulting in cost escalation during the course of 
the programme which could result in the scheme 
becoming unviable or (for the refurbishment element) 
unaffordable for the council.

1 5 5 Pre-Constrcution Service Agreement (PCSA) in the 
process of approval for preferred contractor. This is 
stage one of the two stage procurement process. Silver 
and Currie & Brown appointed. 

B.Maltby/ 
Currie & 
Brown/ Silver

ACTIVE

B24 18/12/2018 B.Maltby Reputation/Political If the affordable housing is not accessible to local people 
in housing need, there is a risk that public perceptions will 
be that the programme is not adressing local housing 
needs.

2 2 4 B.Maltby to undertake internal engagement with D.Burns 
and Housing Team; and externally with A2D. 
Nominations agreement in place.

B.Maltby/W. 
Stokes

ACTIVE

B26 18/12/2018 B.Maltby Planning There is a risk that the Council do not agree the stopping 
up order for Nigel Playfair Avenue which would result in 
delays to the programme.

1 4 4 All consultant appointmets completed. Work commenced 
in 2019 in respect of utilities diversions (which need to be 
designed before stopping up order can be granted). 
B.Maltby held meeting with Silver, TPP and Gattica in 
January 2020 to coordinate the final programme. 
Programme is progressing.

C.Banerman/ 
Silver DCC

ACTIVE

B32 18/02/2019 B.Maltby Programme There is a risk that delays in Council payments to direct 
contractors due to finance system upgrade and lack of 
capacity, may lead to programme delays - particularly 
regarding refurbishment.

2 2 4 B.Maltby to work closely with Finance Team to reolve 
existing issues, and plan cash-flow requirements and 
forthcoming payment schedules.

B.Maltby/ 
C.Martin

ACTIVE

B39 07/01/2019 B.Maltby Programme There is a risk that the council cannot provide the design 
team with approved user-requirement information quick 
enough, leading to delay in the completion of RIBA Stage 
4.

3 3 9 Visioning workshops booked. Governance processes in 
place. Internal stakeholder engagement programme 
ongoing. RFI protocol in place.

B.Maltby ACTIVE

B42 14/10/2019 B.Maltby Programme There is a risk that the procurement of the Ground Source 
Heat Pump system does not align with funding cycles of 
OFGEM and other funding agencies, leading to a loss of 
capital and revenue funding. 

2 4 8 B.Maltby to organise meeting with OFGEM to discuss in 
more detail. 

B.Maltby ACTIVE

D53 13/10/2019 J. Bacon Operational Fibre and other cable routes feeding into the IT Hub 
Comms room may not be known and therefore will not be 
mapped for protection before the hub move.  

3 4 12 virtual walk round on plans with Mark Reading up on all 
known routes being undertaken with IT , ICC and 
builders 

J. Bacon (IT) ACTIVE

B46 17/02/2020 B.Maltby Financial There is a risk that the assumptions made about the 
location of a sewer running under the town hall (based on 
record drawings) are incorrect, impacting the design 
(primarily lift pit location and location of columns 
supporting vertical extension).  

3 3 9 Thames Water sewer survey process underway S.Lee ACTIVE

B47 17/02/2020 B.Maltby Programme There is a risk that post-planning design changes 
proposed for the town hall building are not acceptable to 
the Planning Authority/Historic England or require 
seperate Listed Building Consent. This would in turn delay 
the commencement of strip out works to those areas, 
affecting the programme.

3 3 9 Positive response from pre-application process and 
submission of s.96a underway

B.Maltby / 
C.Bannerman

ACTIVE

B49 17/02/2020 B.Maltby Reputation/Political There is a risk that the development does not adaquately 
assist the Council in achieving its ambition to be net 
carbon zero across its property portfolio by 2030.

2 4 8 MLM consulting appointed to provide sustainabilty review B. Maltby ACTIVE

Instruct design team to build flexibility into design. Gain permit 
from Thames water to access sewer, and instuct Plowman 
Craven (survey company) to undertake measured survey ASAP.

Mitigation measures will be to work with RSHP and planning 
stakeholders early in the deign development process (RIBA 
Stage 3) to gauge opinion/liklihood of rejection. Planning 
Consultant (Barton Wilmore) and Heritage Architect (Purcell) will 
provide specialist advice to ensure risk is mitigated.

Appoint specialist consultant as a Client Adviser, to undertake a 
holistic review of design to date and advise on potential 
modifications required.

Work closely with stakeholders to achieve required delivery 
timescales, and/or negotiate with funding bodies on funding 
timelines.

Known routes are currently mapped out by the IT team and have 
been provided to the demolition contractor. This risk is about 
unknown routes. In the event that a potential routes is found, the 
team will ensure they are mapped out. Work with CCTV teams 
and IT to try to manage all routes. 

Set up governance in relation to the specification of the 
development. For the Council this will be the Exec Programme 
Board, Programme Delivery Group, and Sub-Groups. For the JV 
this will be the JV Exec Board. Procure expertise in relation to 
cost to ensure control. For the New Build & Refurb works this will 
be through Silver DCC. There is an additional layer of control for 
the Refurb provided by Currie & Brown, who will verify cost plan 
information provided by Silver.  

For the Town Hall (which contains the gretaest risk in relation to 
cost-creep) use a two stage procurement process, bringing the 
contractor into the design development process allowing cost 
certainty to be developed ahead of the final constrcution conract 
being signed.
Mitigate risk by prioritising local social housing tenants for 
Shared Ownership and London Affordable Rent properties.

West King Street/Town Hall - Design & Build

RISK REGISTER

CONTROL MEASURES

Mitigation provided by expertise of specialist consultants 
procured by JV, in particular TPP (Traffic), Gattica (Utillities) and 
Silver DCC (Employers Agent).

Develop cashflow forecasts and plan payment schedules in 
advance, liasing regularly with Finance Team. Also, where 
possible, have Silver utilise existing high-value PO and re-charge 
council via this mechanism for contractors procured via the PM.

Launch visioning workshops with Council leadership, and distill 
outcomes into briefing documents.

Put in place internal governance processes which facilitate clear 
decision making. Primarily Programme Delivery Group (PDG) 
and specialst sub-working groups.

Build programme of internal sttakeholder engagement with 
Currie & Brown.

Launch 'Request for Information' (RFI) protocol between design 
team and Council, to be administered by Silver.

P
age 38



B50 17/02/2020 B.Maltby Operational There is a risk that demolition and strip out works taking 
place in close proximity to live council services of the town 
hall (namely CCTV & IT) impacts the health & safety of 
staff and/or business contunity of those services.

2 4 8 As soon as the demolition and strip out programmes are 
finalised, undertake specific workshops with CCTV and 
IT services and include corporate health and sefaty and 
potentially unions. 

B.Maltby / 
C.Bannerman

ACTIVE

B51 22/04/2020 B.Maltby Programme There is a risk that future government public health 
guidelines in relation to the Covid-19 outbreak delays the 
completion of the demolition contract. This would have a 
knock on impact to the commencement of the main works 
contract, in-turn impacting the handover of completed 
buildings on the site.

3 3 9 UK Government advice is currently that construction 
sites should continue to work, provided guidelines in 
relation to social distancing can be adhered to. LBHF has 
requested Covid-19 specific method statements from the 
appointed contractor, which will be signed off by the JV, 
and Council seperately before works commence.

B.Maltby / 
C.Bannerman 
/ P. Barton

ACTIVE

B52 22/04/2020 B.Maltby Financial There is a risk that future government public health 
guidelines in relation to the Covid-19 outbreak delays the 
completion of the demolition contract. This would have a 
knock on impact to the commencement of the main works 
contract, in-turn resulting in increased costs to the Council 
related to tempoorary leased office accommodation.

3 3 9 UK Government advice is currently that construction 
sites should continue to work, provided guidelines in 
relation to social distancing can be adhered to. LBHF has 
requested Covid-19 specific method statements from the 
appointed contractor, which will be signed off by the JV, 
and Council seperately before works commence.

B.Maltby / 
C.Bannerman 
/ W. Stokes

ACTIVE

B53

22/04/2020 B.Maltby Programme There is a risk that the onset of Covid-19 diverts senior 
Council resources away from RIBA Stage 4 design 
development,

2 3 6 PDG Updates ongoing. WGs set up or in process of 
being set up. BM to have meeting with Currie & Brown re 
Stage 4 intermediate sign off meetings week 
commencing 27/04/20.

B. Maltby ACTIVECommunicate regular updates via Programme Delivery Group 
(PDG) and set up PDG Working Groups (WGs) to provide steer 
amd approvals of specific work streams during Stage 4 the 
design development process. In the Absence of the Leader, set 
up high level 'user experience' workshops with Heads of Service. 
Work with Currie & Brown to develop a process of intermidiate 
sign offs or updates for the Leader & CE.

Develop a fully de-risked series of method statements with 
contractor and Council, which are approved by the Council prior 
to hard demolition or town hall strip out works commencing.

Work closely with stakeholders to progress demolition where 
possible. Control programme impact via project governance 
structures.

Work closely with stakeholders to progress demolition where 
possible. Control programme impact via project governance 
structures.

P
age 39



West King Street/Town Hall - Commercial Calculate Profile Score after control measures applied. 1 2 3 4 5 .1 Rare .1 Negligible

2 4 6 8 10 .2 Unlikely .2 Minor
RISK REGISTER 3 6 9 12 15 .3 Possible .3 Moderate

4 8 12 16 20 .4 Likely .4 Major ACTIVE
5 10 15 20 25 .5 Almost certain.5 Catastrophic CLOSED

REMOVED

REF
DATE 

RAISED
RAISED 

BY
RISK 

CATEGORY
RISK DESCRIPTION AND CONSEQUENCE PROBABILITY IMPACT

PROFILE 
(SCORE)

CURRENT ACTION
ASSIGNED 

TO
DATE LAST 
UPDATED

DATE 
COMPLETED

STATUS
UPDATE/ COMMENT/CLOSING 

COMMENTS

S40 05.05.19 Izhar.Haq Financial There is a risk that business rates come in higher 
than expected which would result in additional 
budgetary pressure.  

3 2 6 I.Haq 14/02/2020 ACTIVE Provision has been made for 
business rates within the budget.  
Therefore the impact would be 
any delta between the budget 
amount and the actual figure.  
This could result in an upside or 
a downside.

C16 22/04/19 B.Maltby Financial There is a risk that an increase in build costs and a 
decrease in sales price of commercial and 
residential units negatively impact the viability of the 
scheme.

3 4 12 Engage market specialist 
advice on sales values. 
Manage through JV 
Board.

W. Stokes/B. 
Maltby

22/04/2020 ACTIVE The contractual structure allows 
the JV a period of time to restore 
viability or develop alternative 
arrangements should viability be 
affected.

Work with contractor and design team to 
protect July 'financial close', where a fixed 
price for the construction works will be 
agreed (BM). Engage specialist market 
advice on projected sales values, viability 
to be re-run before land sale goes 
unconditional (WS).

Property have commissioned Wilkes 
Head Eve to provide business rates 
advice.

CONTROL MEASURES

P
age 40


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Financial Impact of Covid-19 on the Council
	5 Civic Campus Update
	Civic Campus Risk Register - Open


